
City of Scio 
 P. O. Box 37 

  Scio, OR  97374 
   Phone: 503-394-3342 
     Fax:  503-394-2340 

     Covered Bridge Capital of the West  

 

NEXT SCHEDULED PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING(S) 
 

  TBA, 7:00 p.m. Scio City Hall 
 

Scio Planning Commission Meeting 
Scio City Hall - 38957 NW 1st Avenue, Scio, Oregon 

 
 
The public may submit public comments on agenda items by email to cathy@sciooregon.gov prior to 
4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, April 26, 2022. 
 

AGENDA 
April 26, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

 
Chairman - Beau Buganski 

 
Commissioner Richard Androes Commissioner Katrina Clouse Commissioner Ellie Ferguson 

Commissioner Ron Loewen Commissioner Nicole Zedwick Vacant 

 
CALL TO ORDER **** ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES:  August 25, 2021 Minutes 
 
BUSINESS: 

   
1. PL2021-02 – Iceland Construction – Extension of Subdivision Approval   

10S01W018AC, Tax Lot 900 
Presented by:  Dave Kinney, Planning Consultant 
 

2. PL2022-01 – SMTA – Site Development Review  
10S01W18AD, Tax Lot 5100 
Presented by:  Dave Kinney, Planning Consultant 
 

3. Planning Commission Vacancy 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
 

ALL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETINGS WILL BE HELD IN PERSON AND ON ZOOM. 
 
The public can join the meeting via Zoom using one of the following options: 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us   or phone: 1-253-215-8782   
  
Meeting ID:  813 0605 2915 Passcode:  142934 

 
The Zoom Information will also be available on the City Web Site and City Facebook Page the Thursday, prior to 
the Monday meeting.   
 

mailto:cathy@sciooregon.gov


Minutes 



City of Scio 
Planning Commission Minutes 

August 25, 2021 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Scio Planning Commission Meeting Minutes   Page 1 of 3 
August 25, 2021 

LOCATION:  SCIO CITY COUNCIL CHAIMBER, 38957 NW 1ST AVENUE, SCIO 
Public was allowed to attend in person, following COVID-19 protocols, or via Zoom. 

 
Time Start:  5:00 P.M. Time End:  5:31 P.M. 

CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 5:00 pm by Planning Commission Chairman Beau Buganski.  Role call was taken by 
Cathy Martin, Administrative Assistant. 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING ATTENDANCE LOG 

PLANNING COMMISSION SCIO STAFF 
Chairman Beau Buganski – via Zoom Cathy Martin, Administrative Assistant  
Commissioner Richard Androes – via Zoon David Kinney, Planning Consultant - excused 
Commissioner Katrina Clouse – via Zoom  
Commissioner Ellie Ferguson – via Zoom  
Commissioner Ron Loewen – via Zoom  
Commissioner Nicole Zedwick - excused  
Vacancy  

 
AUDIENCE MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE 

Nancy Hallin via Zoom Kelsey Hallin via Zoom 
Lisa Carlson  
 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

• June 30, 2021 Planning Commission Minutes 
 
Motion from Commissioner Clouse, seconded by 
Commissioner Androes, to approve the minutes of June 
30, 2021 as presented.  Motion passed 5:0 
 

BUSINESS  
PUBLIC HEARING  
PL2021-05 – Nancy Hallin – Property Line Adjustment 
10S01W18AA, Tax Lots 600, 601, 607 and 697 

a. Staff Report – Cathy Martin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Ms. Martin stated that Planning Consultant, Dave Kinney, 
drafted the letter of decision on the Property Line 
Adjustment.  His recommendation to the city is to 
approve the application to modify the property lines and 
eliminate two of four parcels to create two residential 
lots.  Mr. Kinney noted in the findings that the final 
location of the lot line between Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 may 
be adjusted north by up to 5’ to provide a larger setback 
from the existing home at 38771 NE Ash Street, as long as 
the lot size of each parcel is a minimum of 10,000 square 
feet.   The Findings and Conclusions prepared by Mr. 
Kinney conclude that the applicant has complied with the 
application requirements and decision criteria for a 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Scio City Council Meeting Minutes   Page 2 of 3 
August 25, 2021 

 
 
 

b. Applicant’s Presentation 
 
 
 

c. Public Comments 
 

d. Commissioner Discussion 
 

e. Planning Commission Decision 
 

 

property line adjustment as set forth in the Scio Land 
Division Code Chapter 8.5. 
 
Nancy Hallin stated that her daughter Kelsy plans to place 
a home on Parcel 1 after the property line adjustment is 
recorded. 
 
None. 
 
None. 
 
Motion from Commissioner Clouse, seconded by 
Commissioner Androes, to approve the application 
number PL2021-05 by Nancy Hallin for a Property Line 
Adjustment and conditions of approval as recommended.  
Motion passed 5:0 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
PL2021-06 – Virginia Nelson – Property Line Adjustment 
10S01W07DC, Tax Lots 600 and 700 

a. Staff Report – Cathy Martin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. Applicant’s Presentation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. Public Comments 
 

d. Council Discussion 
 

e. Planning Commission Decision 
 

 

 
 
 
Ms. Martin stated that Planning Consultant, Dave Kinney, 
drafted the letter of decision on the Property Line 
Adjustment.  His recommendation to the city is to 
approve the application to adjust the property lines to 
include the shop building between the two homes on the 
same parcel as the home at 38843 NW Garden Drive.  Lot 
3 and Lot 4 of the M & M Subdivision would be 
consolidated into a single parcel.   The Findings and 
Conclusions as prepared by Mr. Kinney conclude that the 
applicant has complied with the application requirements 
and decision criteria for a property line adjustment as set 
forth in the Scio Land Division Code Chapter 8.5. 
 
Lisa Carlson, applicant’s representative, stated the 
property line adjustment will allow her mother to 
prepare for the sale of the property.  The shop always 
belonged with the house at 38843 NW Garden Drive it 
had just been placed on the other lot, which is a rental 
property.  At the time it was built they didn’t have the 
property line adjusted.  Commissioner Clouse stated that 
this will make the property more valuable. 
 
None. 
 
None. 
 
Motion from Commissioner Ferguson, seconded by 
Commissioner Loewen, to approve the application 
number PL2021-06 by Virginia Nelson for a Property Line 
Adjustment and the conditions of approval as 
recommended.  Motion passed 5:0 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Scio City Council Meeting Minutes   Page 3 of 3 
August 25, 2021 

Planning Commission Vacancy 
a. Staff report 

 
 

b. Commissioners Discussion 

 
Ms. Martin reminded the commission that there is still 
one opening for an in-town position.   
 
Commissioner Clouse asked how long a person has to be 
living in town to be able to fill the position.  Martin stated 
12 months.  Clouse then stated that she may be moving 
to town in the next few months and if this would change 
the requirement.  Martin stated that since she is 
currently on the commission if she took up residency 
within the city limits, it would change the residency 
requirement.  
 

 



Agenda Item 1 

 



From: Laura Laroque
To: Cathy Martin
Cc: dwkinney@wvi.com
Subject: Four Firs Tentative Subdivision Extension (2021-03)
Date: Wednesday, January 26, 2022 9:19:30 AM

Hello Cathy,
 
As you are already aware, on Wednesday, April 28, 2021, the Scio Planning Commission conditionally
approved application planning file number 2021-03 for Four Firs Subdivision, a replat of Block 6,
South Addition to Scio, into four lots.  Conditions A and B of this approval included a requirement for
the submittal and preliminary approval of the final engineering plans and final plat by May 31, 2022
and recording of the final plat by December 31, 2022.  Unfortunately, due to unforeseen
circumstances (mainly due to covid staff issues) the development team will be unable to meet the
these deadlines.  As such, a 1-year extension until May 31, 2023 (submittal of engineering plans)
 and December 31, 2023 (filing & recording the final plat) is requested in accordance with Scio
Ordinance No. 562, Section 4.060(3). 
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration of the request. 
 

Laura LaRoque
Director of Land Use Services                        
Udell Engineering and Land Surveying, LLC.
63 East Ash Street, Lebanon, OR  97355
Office: (541) 451-5125
Direct: (541) 990-8661
Fax: (541)451-1366
 

mailto:Laura@udelleng.com
mailto:Cathy@ScioOregon.gov
mailto:dwkinney@wvi.com


Agenda Item 2 

 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 1 of 15 

 
 

David W. Kinney 
Planning Consultant for the City of Scio  
791 E. Hollister St., Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 551-0899 
Email: dwkinney@wvi.com 

  City of Scio 
 

 
SCIO PLANNING COMMISSION 

STAFF REPORT 
 
HEARING DATE: April 27, 2022  
 
STAFF REPORT DATE: April 11, 2022  
 
FILE NUMBER: PL 2022-01     
 
APPLICANT: Gene Bolante 
 Studio 3 Architecture 
 275 Court St. NE 
 Salem, OR  97301 
 Email:  Gene@studio3architeture.com 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: Scio Mutual Telephone Association  

PO Box 1100 
 Scio, OR  97374 

 
PROPERTY: 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, OR 

Assessor’s Map Tax Lot Account Acres Zoning Address 
10S01W18AD 05100 381471 0.48 Commercial 38996 SE 2nd 
   

EXHIBITS: EXHIBIT A Application & Shop Building Plans (7 sheets) 
 EXHIBIT B Notice of Public Hearing (in City file) 
 EXHIBIT C Agency Comments (if any are received)  
  
REQUEST: Site Plan Review 
     
CRITERIA:  Scio Zoning Ordinance  

 Section 3.200  Commercial (C) Zone 
 Section 3.220  Uses Permitted per Site Plan Review 
 Section 3.230  Setback Requirements 
 Section 3.240  Lot Coverage 
 Section 3.250  Drainage Plan 

mailto:Gene@studio3architeture.com


  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 2 of 15 

Scio Zoning Ordinance Criteria (continued)  
 Section 5.110  Exterior Lighting 
 Section 5.200 to 5.230  Off-Street Parking and Loading 
 Section 5.600 to 5.660  Signs 
 Sections 11.010 to 11.050  Site Plan Review Requirements 
 Sections 13.010 to 13.080 Public Facility Standards 

 
 

I. Applicant’s Proposal 
 
The City has received a land use application from Gene Bolante, Studio 3 Architecture, Salem, Oregon on 
behalf of the property owner, Scio Mutual Telephone Association.  The applicants propose to construct a 
2,190 square foot vehicle storage and maintenance building for the Scio Mutual Telephone Association 
adjacent to their office building at 38996 SE 2nd Avenue in Scio, Oregon.  The project includes street 
widening, curb and sidewalk improvements on SE Ash Street abutting the property. 
 
The proposed 72’ x 30’ building will have four vehicle bays and a storage area and restroom in a 5th bay.  
The new building will be accessed from the existing parking area behind the existing building.  The property 
is located inside the Scio city limits and is zoned Commercial (C-1).  Under the Scio Zoning Code Section 
3.215 a communications / utility building or facility is a permitted use in the Commercial zone, subject to 
a site plan review by the Scio Planning Commission, prior to the issuance of a building permit. 
 
The applicant submitted a site plan and the proposed shop building plans as Exhibit A.   On April 11, 2022, 
Gene Bolante, Studio 3 Architecture, submitted an updated site plan for the project, Sheet A1.1, which is 
shown on the next page as Figure 1.   
 
The burden of proof is on the applicant to present the application to the Planning Commission and to present 
information which shows that the application complies with all of the approval criteria of the City of Scio. 
 
 

II. Background Information. 
 
A. Pre-Application Information and Application Submittals:    
 
 The City staff met with the applicant prior to the submittal of an application.   The applicant filed 

an application and supporting documents with the City on March 7, 2022.  The application was 
deemed complete on March 14, 2022.   Therefore, the final local decision must be made by July 
12, 2022 to comply with the “120 Day Rule”.  

 
B. Application, Land Use Procedure and Review Requirements:   
 

Article 12 of the Scio Zoning Ordinance outlines the application, notice and review requirements 
for land use applications.  The property is located in the Commercial zone and is an allowed use 
subject to a site plan review.   The Scio Planning Commission will make a decision to either approve 
or deny the application based on criteria found in the Scio Zoning Ordinance, Sections 11.010 to 
11.050.  The City Code can be viewed under “Codes & Ordinances” at the City of Scio website:  
http://ci.scio.or.us

http://ci.scio.or.us/


  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 3 of 15 

Figure 1 
Proposed SMTA Shop Building -  Sheet A1.1  - Revised April 11, 2022 

38982 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
 
 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 4 of 15 

 
C. Public Hearing and Notices of Public Hearing: 
   

A public hearing concerning the matter will be held before the Scio Planning Commission on 
Wednesday, April 27, 2022 beginning at 7:00 p.m. at the City Hall, 38957 NW 1st Avenue in Scio, 
Oregon.  
 
Notice of the public hearing was provided to affected governmental agencies and adjacent property 
owners.  Written notice was mailed to property owners within 200’ of the subject property prior to 
April 7, 2022.  Notice of the hearing was posted, mailed to property owners and agencies 20 days 
prior to the public hearing.   At the conclusion of the hearing the Planning Commission will 
deliberate and make a decision to approve or deny the proposal.  The Planning Commission 
decision may be appealed to the City Council. 

 
D. Existing Conditions:    

 
SMTA has an existing office / telecommunications facility in a 4,900-sf building at 38982 SE 2nd 
Avenue on the 0.48-acre parcel.  The parking lot behind the existing building is used for parking, 
equipment and vehicle storage.  
 

Figure 2 
Existing SMTA Office 

38982 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
 

 
 

  



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 5 of 15 

E. Existing City Services and Private Utilities:  
 
• City Services: The existing lots are served by city water and sewer services.   
 

a. Water & Sewer Service:  The existing building at 38982 SE 2nd Avenue is served by city 
water and sewer.  Services will be extended to the new vehicle storage and shop building. 

b. Roads:  SE 2nd Avenue and SE Ash Street are city streets.   

• SE 2nd Avenue is paved with curbs and sidewalks in compliance with the city’s public 
works improvement standards. 

• SE Ash Street has a paved 20’ wide travel lane and a 15’ gravel shoulder to the SMTA 
Parking area.   It does not comply with city public works design standards. 

• Private Utilities: The existing site is served with private utilities. No changes are proposed. 
 
F. Surrounding Properties; 
 

EAST:  Single family home at 39008 SE 2nd Avenue and additional single-family 
dwellings east on SE 2nd Avenue.   

 
NORTH: IOOF building and a single-family home at 38678 SE Ash Street.  
 
WEST:  Commercial building and residential uses on the west side of Hwy 226 between 

SW 2nd and SW 3rd Street in Scio. 
 
SOUTH: Commercial building at 38930 Hwy 226.  The area behind the new vehicle 

storage / shop facility is a gravel storage area. 
 

G. Flood Hazard Area:   The site is not located in the 100-year Special Flood Hazard Area.   The 
building has an elevation certificate on file with the City of Scio. 
 

H. Agency Comments:   Agency comments were solicited from the Scio Rural Fire Protection District 
and private utilities. The City requested comments be submitted by April 15, 2022.  Any comments 
submitted prior to the public hearing will be provided to the Planning Commission and included in 
the public record. 
 

I. Public Comments:  Written comments received prior to the public hearing and public testimony 
presented at the public hearing will be added to the record.  
 
 

III.   Review of Zoning and Site Plan Review  
Decision Criteria and Findings  

 
The application was reviewed to determine whether the proposal complies with the applicable standards 
and criteria in the Scio Zoning Ordinance.   The application and a narrative submitted by the applicant 
address the applicable zoning requirements.    
 
On March 28, 2022, the City requested the applicant provide additional information related to on-site 
storm drainage and public improvements on SE Ash St.  The applicant submitted a revised Sheet A1.1 on 
April 11, 2022. 
  



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 6 of 15 

A. Zoning Requirements.   The SMTA property is located in the Commercial (C-1) zone. 
      

1. Commercial (C-1) Zone Requirements. 
 

 The proposed vehicle storage and maintenance facility is new 2,130 square foot shop building.  
The City reviewed applicable requirements in the basic zone, parking, public facilities and site 
plan review sections of the Scio Zoning Ordinance.   

 
  3.215  Commercial (C-1) zone. The proposed telecommunications facility, including the 

new vehicle storage and maintenance building, is a permitted use subject to a site plan review 
under Article 11 of the Scio Zoning Ordinance.   The site plan review criteria are reviewed 
under Section III-C below.   

 
  3.230  Setback Requirements.  In a C-1 zone, there are no required setbacks (front, side or 

rear) if the property is located in a C-1 zone and abuts a commercial zone.   The proposal 
complies with Section 3.230. 

 
  3.240  Lot Coverage.   In a C-1 zone, buildings may not occupy more than 80% of the lot 

area.  Buildings on the SMTA site may occupy up to 16,780 sq. ft.  The existing building is 
5,330 sq. ft and the new building will be 2,130 sq ft. = 7,460 sq. ft.   The proposal complies 
with Section 3.240.  

 
  3.250  Drainage Plan.  The applicant is required to submit a drainage plan for City Engineer 

approval, prior to the issuance of a building permit.  
 
   The proposed facility complies with the basic zoning requirements of the C-1 zone.  

 
 2. Supplemental Provisions - Sections 5.010 to 5.370. 
 

The following supplemental provisions of the Scio Zoning Ordinance apply to this proposal.  
They are reviewed under the applicable Site Plan Review Criteria.    

 
 5.110 Exterior Lighting.     See Site Plan Review Criteria #8 below. 

 5.200 Off-Street Parking.  See Site Plan Review Criteria #4 below. 

 5.600  Sign Standards.  See Site Plan Review Criteria #9 below. 

 

B. Flood Hazard Ordinance Requirements. 
 
The City’s flood maps show the property is located outside the 100-year flood hazard zone.  
 
 

C. Site Plan Review Criteria – Chapter 11 of the Scio Zoning Ordinance  

 
Chapter 11 “Site Plan Review” establishes application requirements and decision criteria.  A decision 
to approve or deny a site plan shall be based on criteria in Section 11.030 of the Zoning Ordinance.   
The purpose of a site plan review is to ensure compliance with the City’s zoning regulations, public 
works standards, flood regulations and building code requirements.  If approved, the applicant may 
apply for a building permit for the project.  

 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 7 of 15 

 Criteria 1: Adequate public and private utilities are available to serve the development in 
compliance with the City’s public works standards. 

Facts:   
 
1. Water:  The City has an existing 12” water main in Hwy 226 abutting the site.  The closest fire 

hydrant is at the corner of Hwy 226 & SE 2nd Avenue, within 250’ of the new building.  The 
applicant does not propose any changes to the existing water service.  Sheet A1.1 shows a water 
service line will be extended from the existing office building to the shop building. 

2. Sanitary Sewer:  The building is connected to the 8” sanitary sewer that runs north-south behind 
the office building.  Sheet A1.1 shows a new building sewer will be connected to the building sewer 
at the office building.   

3. Storm Drainage Facilities:  The City has a catch basin at the corner of SE 2nd Avenue and SE Ash 
Street, that connects to an 8” storm sewer that runs north and discharges to Thomas Creek.  Sheet 
A1.1 shows this CB will be relocated along the new curb line at the corner of SE 2nd and SE Ash 
St.   Sheet A1.1 also shows a new catch basin in the center of the parking area, but does not indicate 
if this will be a UIC detention facility or will be connected to the city storm sewer.  A storm drainage 
analysis and final engineering plans will need to be submitted to the City Engineer for his review 
and approval, prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

4. Public Works Design and Construction Requirements: Chapter 13 “Public Facilities” and the City’s 
public works design standards and construction specifications apply to the design and construction 
of on-site and off-site public improvements, including the provision of any needed public utility 
easements.  The applicant does not propose any changes to existing water or sewer facilities, but 
the final storm drainage facilities must comply with the City of Scio Public Works Design 
Standards.   

5. Private Utilities:  Power and telecommunications serve the existing site.  Underground electrical 
service will be provided to the new building. 

Findings and Conclusions for Criteria 1 “Public Facilities”:   
 
The current building is served by existing public facility and private utility services, as shown on Sheet 
A1.1.   The City concludes the existing water and sewer utilities are adequate to serve the site.  
 

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit final engineering plans for the 
on-site and off-site storm drainage system, in compliance with the Scio PWDS, for review and 
approval by the City Engineer, prior to the issuance of a building permit.  Improvements shall be 
completed prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the new building.  

The City concludes that upon compliance with the condition of approval, the proposed water, sewer 
and storm drainage facilities can comply with Criteria 1.  

 
Criteria 2: Provision of safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including pedestrian 

and motor vehicle traffic, and provision for safe access to and from the property 
to adjacent pubic streets.  

Criteria 3: Provision of necessary improvements to local streets, including the dedication 
of additional right-of-way to the city and/or the improvement of traffic facilities 
to accommodate access for emergency vehicles and the additional traffic load 
generated by the proposed development of the site.  



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 8 of 15 

Facts:  
 
1. SE 2nd Avenue:  SE 2nd Avenue is a fully improved City street with a 60’ ROW and a 32’-wide 

pavement section. SE 2nd Avenue has a curb and sidewalk on the south of the street from SE 2nd 
Street to the SE Ash Street ROW line, as shown on Sheet A1.1.  There is no curb return or sidewalk 
at the intersection of SE 2nd and SE Ash Street.  A storm catch basin is located at the SW corner of 
the intersection of SE 2nd & SE Ash Streets.   

2. SE Ash Street:  SE Ash Street is a turnpike style street with a 60’-wide ROW and a 20’-wide AC 
pavement section. The street has no curb or sidewalk on the west side of the street abutting the site. 
The street does not comply with the City’s public works requirements in Section 13.020 of the 
Zoning Code and Map 13.1, which call for SE Ash Street to be an improved local street with curbs, 
sidewalk and a 32’-36’-wide AC pavement section. Sheet A1.1 shows the applicant proposes to 
construct AC pavement widening, curbs, storm sewer inlet, sidewalks and landscaping along SE 
Ash Street.   

3. Traffic Impact:  The proposed shop building will not generate any significant traffic increases, since 
the property has already been used by SMTA for vehicle and equipment storage.   

Findings and Conclusions for Criteria 2 and 3 “Streets, Traffic Circulation and Pedestrian Access”:  

The City makes the following findings and conclusions: 

1. SE 2nd Avenue – Street and Sidewalk:  Existing street and sidewalk improvements on SE 2nd 
Avenue comply with City of Scio public works design standards.  No street or sidewalk 
improvements are required. 

2. SE Ash Street – Street, Sidewalk and Storm Drainage:  Existing street, sidewalk and storm sewers 
on SE Ash Street do not comply with City of Scio public works design standards.  The applicant is 
required to design and install AC pavement widening, curb, sidewalk and storm improvements on 
SE Ash Street.  

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit final engineering plans for the 
SE Ash Street improvements, for review and approval by the City Engineer, prior to the issuance 
of a building permit.  Improvements shall be completed prior to the issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy for the new building.  

The City concludes the proposal can comply with Criteria 2 and Criteria 3 subject to compliance with 
the recommended condition of approval.   

Criteria 4: Provision of on-site parking areas and adequate loading/unloading areas for the 
proposed uses and in compliance with Sections 5.200 to 5.230 of this ordinance.  
The parking area shall be designed to facilitate the safe movement of traffic and 
pedestrians and minimize traffic congestion.  

Facts:  

 The applicant must comply with the off-street parking and loading requirements in Sections 5.200 to 
5.230 of the Zoning Ordinance.   Sheet A1.1 dated April 11, 2022 shows six existing parking spaces 
and 4 vehicle storage bays inside the new building.   
 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 9 of 15 

1. Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements.   Parking lot improvements must be built 
concurrently with the building; they must be completed before the County provides a certificate of 
occupancy.   

2. # of Parking Spaces Required for Employee and Service Vehicle Parking.  Sheet A1.1 shows six 
existing parking spaces behind the existing office/telecommunications building.  The new vehicle 
storage bays will provide 4 bays for SMTA vehicles and equipment.   Section 5.210 “Off-Street 
Parking” requires a total of 10 parking spaces. The proposal complies with the city’s parking space 
requirements. 

Table 1 
Parking Requirements 

 
Use # Parking Spaces 

per sq. ft. 
# of Parking Spaces 

Required 
# of Parking Spaces 

Provided 

Existing Office/Telecomm Building 1/500 sf 9 spaces 6 spaces 

Vehicle Maintenance/Shop Building   
Area 1 (360 sq. ft.) – Does not include the 
four large vehicle bays & storage area. 

1/600 sf  1 space 4 spaces  
(in bays) 

Totals  10 spaces 10 spaces 

 

3. Parking Lot Design Standards:  Parking lot design standards include: 

a. All-weather hard surface and curbing. 
b. ADA parking spaces and signage. 
c. No drainage flowing over sidewalks. 
d. AC parking area must have a bumper guard to prevent vehicles from hitting fences or landscaping and 

to prevent vehicles from protruding across the property line. 

 The existing gravel parking area does not comply with the City’s public works design and 
construction standards.  A paved parking area is proposed to comply with city standards.  Sheet 
A1.1 dated April 11, 2022 shows the following: 

 a. Paved Parking:  The east side of the parking lot will be paved.   

 b. ADA:  The existing ADA space and sign will be modified to comply with ADA standards. 

 c. Storm Drainage:  The site is sloped to direct storm water to a catch basin in the center of the 
parking lot; no drainage will flow over the sidewalks. 

 The site plan does not show a curb adjacent to the landscape strip between the sidewalk and the 
parking lot.  

4. Trash Receptacle Enclosure.   The site plan does not propose a trash receptacle enclosure.  Trash 
pickup occurs behind the building using existing a small dumpster and garbage containers.  A 
separate trash enclosure is not required.   

5.    Timing for Completion of the Parking Lot Improvements.  All parking improvements must be 
completed prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the new building. 

Findings and Conclusions for Criteria 4 “Parking”.  The City makes the following findings and 
conclusions.    



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 10 of 15 

1.   The site plan shows adequate parking and vehicle storage areas will be provided to comply with 
the city’s standards. 

2. Parking lot improvements will be extended to the edge of the City ROW.  Sheet A1.1 complies 
with the City of Scio parking lot design requirements.   A curb or bumper guards are required to 
prevent vehicles from driving into the landscaped areas.  

The City concludes the proposal complies with the city’s parking standards subject to compliance with 
the recommended conditions of approval.  
 

 
Criteria 5: The design and placement on the site of buildings and other structural 

improvements shall provide compatibility in size, scale, and intensity of use 
between the proposed development and similar development on neighboring 
properties.  The location, appearance and size of the proposed buildings shall 
be designed to properly serve anticipated users of the proposed improvements.  

Criteria 6: Provision of landscaping of the site including the planting of trees, street trees, 
shrubs, and groundcovers so that the landscaping presents an attractive 
interface with adjacent residential properties.  

Criteria 7: Provision of visual or physical barriers around the property including the 
provision of site obscuring fencing or vegetative screening between a 
commercial and/or public use and adjacent residential properties.  

Facts:    

1. SMTA’s new shop building will have a concrete base wall, fiber-cement siding (looks like standard 
wood siding) and a metal roof.  A fire-rated wall will be on the south side, where the building will 
be within 2’ of the property line.  

2. The front yard and south side yard are landscaped and fenced.  The revised Sheet A1.1 shows a 
landscape strip with street trees between the parking lot and the SE Ash Street sidewalk.   Gene 
Bolante, Studio 3 Architecture, responded on April 11, 2022 that a more detailed landscape plan, 
with tree species and planting plan, will be submitted with the building plans. 

3. The front and side yard around the existing building area fenced in compliance with Criteria 7.  A 
site obscuring chain link fence runs along the south property boundary, just south of where the new 
building will be constructed.   

Findings and Conclusions for Criteria #5, #6 and #7:   The City concludes the new building is 
compatible with surrounding commercial structures in the adjacent blocks.  The proposal complies with 
Criteria #5.   The existing fencing on the site complies with Criteria #7. 

Revised Sheet A1.1 dated April 11, 2022 shows landscaping in the planting strip behind the sidewalk 
on SE Ash Street, including the provision of street trees in the planting area.   

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit a final landscaping plan for 
approval by the City Manager, prior to the issuance of a building permit.  The plan will show the 
location and species of street trees, shrubs and ground cover to be planted in the SE Ash Street 
landscape strip.  

The proposal can comply with Criteria #6 “Landscaping”.   

 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 11 of 15 

Criteria 8: Lighting sufficient to satisfy the intended use of the property but designed 
in such a manner as to not present an adverse impact (as measured by 
excessive brightness or glare) upon adjacent land uses or traffic 
movements.  

Facts:   
 

1. Lighting:  Section 5.110 requires exterior lighting to be located, hooded or screened in such a 
manner so as not to face directly, shine or reflect glare onto an adjacent street or residence.  Parking 
lots, interior access driveways and roads, and interior pathways and sidewalks shall be adequately 
lit at night.    

2. There is a wall light on the back of the SMTA office building above the existing parking spaces. 

3. There is a street light on a utility pole overlooking the center of the parking lot.   

4. Sheet A1.1 shows two wall-mounted lights on the north side of the new shop building.  Plan notes 
indicate the lights will be down-lighted to comply with the city’s lighting standards.   

.   Findings and Conclusions for Criteria 8 “Outdoor Lighting”.  

Two exterior wall-pack lights are proposed, with light to be directed down to avoid glare to adjacent 
properties.  The proposal complies with Criteria #8 “Outdoor Lighting”. 

 
Criteria 9: The use is in compliance with the other development standards which are 

specified by the Scio Zoning Code or public works design and construction 
standards.   

Facts:  

1. Commercial Zone Requirements (Zoning Code 3.215 to 3.250):  The proposed building is a 
permitted use in the C-1 zone. The proposed building addition complies with the lot size, 
dimension, height and yard requirements in the C-1 zone (see page 5, Section III-A of this staff 
report). 

2. Supplemental Provisions (Zoning Code 5.010 to 5.600):   The only additional supplemental 
provision that may apply to this proposal is Section 5.600.   

 5.600 Signs:   If a sign is installed, it must comply with Section 5.600 through 5.699 of the 
Scio Zoning Ordinance.  The City staff will review sign plans when they are submitted to the 
City.  The proposal can comply with Section 5.600 at the time a sign is installed.    

3. Public Works Design Standards and Construction Specifications:  The proposal must comply with 
the City of Scio Public Works Standards. See the findings and conclusions in Section III-D. 

Findings and Conclusions for Criteria 9 “Other Requirements and Public Works Standards”.  The 
City finds the proposal can comply with the city sign requirements by obtaining city staff review prior 
to the installation of a sign.   See Section III-D below for review of the public works design standard 
requirements.  The proposal complies with Criteria 9 “Other Requirements” 
 

D. Public Facilities Standards - Chapter 13 of the Scio Zoning Ordinance  

 
Chapter 13 “Public Facilities” establishes requirements and standards for the installation of public 
facilities for a development and/or land division.  The following sections of Chapter 13 apply to the 
SMTA project: 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 12 of 15 

 
 13.010  Applicability of Public Facility Standards.   
 
  C. Public Works Design Standards.  All public improvements must comply with the city’s 

adopted public works design standards.  A copy was provided to the applicant.  
 
  D. Public Improvement Requirement.   No building permit may be issued until required 

public facility improvements are in place or approved by the City Engineer/Public 
Works Supervisor.  Improvements required as part of a development shall be roughly 
proportional to the development.  

 
  E. Completion.  All required public improvements shall be completed prior to the issuance 

of a certificate of occupancy, or the property owner may provide a performance bond 
or security as a financial guarantee to the City. 

 
 13.020  Transportation Standards.   
  

A. General Requirements.  Existing substandard streets . . . abutting a proposed 
development shall be improved as a condition of approval.  

 
D. Street Design Requirements / Future Street Plan.   Map 13.1 “City of Scio Future Street 

Plan” shows SE 2nd and SE Ash Street are planned for full street improvements, 
including curb, sidewalk and full-width pavement. 

 
 Findings and Conclusions for Sections 13.010 and 13.020.  

As noted above in Section III-C “Site Plan Review – Criteria 2”, the existing SE Ash Street does 
have full-width pavement section, curbs or sidewalks along the applicant’s property frontage.   
Sheet A1.1 dated April 11, 2022 shows the applicant plans to construct SE Ash Street frontage 
improvements, including AC pavement widening, curbs, gutters, sidewalks and catch basin 
improvements.  Upon completion of construction, the proposal will comply with Sections 13.010 
and 13.020.    

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit final engineering plans for the 
SE Ash Street improvements, for review and approval by the City Engineer, prior to the issuance 
of a building permit.  

  
 13.050  Storm Drainage and Surface Water Management:   
  
  B. Storm Water Analysis & Report.  An applicant for a development approval is required 

to submit a storm drainage analysis and report, plus plans for on-site storm system 
improvements and any connection to public storm drainage facilities.  

 
 Findings and Conclusions for Sections 13.050.  

The applicant did not submit a storm drainage report or a plan for handling storm drainage on site 
or final construction plans for the proposed storm drainage improvements in the parking area.  

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit final engineering plans for the 
on-site and off-site storm drainage system, in compliance with the Scio PWDS, for review and 
approval by the City Engineer, prior to the issuance of a building permit.   

 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 13 of 15 

13.060  Private Utilities  

   B. Underground Utilities. Private utilities to a development shall be underground, except 
where the City Manager grants an exception to allow overhead utilities.   

 Findings and Conclusions for Sections 13.050.  

Revised Sheet A1.1 dated April 11, 2022 shows electrical service will be extended underground to 
the new shop building.  The proposed site plan complies with Section 13.060.   

 
13.080 Construction Plan Approval & 13.090 Facility Installation  

   The City Engineer must approve all plans for construction of public improvements, 
including streets, curbs, sidewalks and storm drainage.  Improvements shall be constructed 
in compliance with the approved plans.  The City Engineer or public works staff will 
inspect the construction.  The applicant’s engineer will provide the City will a set of as-
built drawings when the public improvements are completed and accepted by the City. 

 Findings and Conclusions for Sections 13.080 and 13.090.  

Engineering plans for required public improvements were not submitted with the application, but 
will be filed and approved by the City prior to issuance of a building permit.   

Recommended Condition of Approval:  The applicant will submit final engineering plans for the 
SE Ash Street improvements.  Improvements shall be completed prior to the issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy for the new building and as-built drawings shall be provided to the City 
of Scio (2 full-size sets and .pdf).  

The City concludes the proposal can comply with Sections 13.080 and 13.090.  

 
 

IV. Conditions of Approval 
 

A. Conditions of Approval:  If the application is approved by the Planning Commission, the staff 
recommends the approval be subject to the following conditions of approval:   

 
1. Approved Site Plan for SMTA Vehicle Storage/Shop Building at 38996 SE 2nd Avenue.  The 

Planning Commission hereby approves the site plan for SMTA’s new vehicle storage/shop building 
at 38996 SE 2nd Avenue as shown on the revised site plan, Sheet A1.1 of the Preliminary 
Architectural Plans dated April 11, 2022, as submitted by Studio 3 Architecture.  The site plan shall 
be stamped approved by the City of Scio Planning Department and dated April 27, 2022.   Approval 
is granted subject to the applicant’s compliance with all of the conditions of approval.  

2. Plan Submittal:  The applicant’s architect and civil engineer will submit a revised plan set including 
the following: 

a. SE Ash Street Improvements.   Engineering plans for SE Ash Street showing AC pavement 
widening, curb, gutters, sidewalks, ADA ramp, landscaping/planting strip and storm drainage 
facilities.  The applicant should consult with City Engineer Ryan Quigley, The Dyer Partnership, 
prior to preparing the final engineering plans for submittal to the City to verify the AC 
pavement width and curb locations and city public works design requirements. 

b. Storm Drainage Analysis & Report.   A storm drainage analysis that complies with the City’s 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 14 of 15 

public works design standards with a proposed storm drainage plan for on-site drainage 
systems and connection to the off-site city storm sewers.  

c. Final Building Plan Set.   The final architectural plan set that is submitted with the building 
permit application shall include a final landscaping plan and shall show any revisions made to 
Sheet A1.1 based on the City Engineer’s review of the street and storm drainage plans. 

3. Construction of Public Improvements.   Public improvements for SE Ash Street and any public 
storm drainage facilities shall be constructed at the property owners’ sole cost and expense. 

a. Start of Work and Coordination with Public Works.  The applicant’s contractor shall coordinate 
the start of construction, on-site inspections and final inspections with the City Engineer. 

b. Certification of Completion and As-Built Plans.  At the conclusion of construction, the City 
Engineer will complete a final inspection and issue a certificate of completion.  The applicant’s 
engineer shall provide the City with a set of as-constructed drawings. (full-size prints and 
electronic files (.pdf or CAD). 

4. Certificate of Occupancy.   The Linn County Building Department will not issue a certificate of 
occupancy until the on-site improvements and the off-site public improvements are completed. 

5. Expiration.   The site plan approval will expire on May 1, 2023 if a building permit application has 
not been filed with the City for the construction of the new vehicle storage/shop building at 38996 
SE 2nd Avenue.  

 
 

V.  Recommendations and Decision  
 
A.   Planning Commission Options:   The Planning Commission may either: 
 
 1. Continue the Public Hearing until (date & time). 
 
 2. Close the Public Hearing but hold the Written Record Open until (date and time) 
 
 3. Close the Public Hearing and approve the proposal. 
   
 4. Close the Public Hearing and deny the proposal. 
 
B.  Staff Recommendation:  If the applicant submits a revised Sheet A1.1 addressing issues raised in 

the staff report, the staff recommends approval, subject to the recommended conditions of approval. 
  

C.  Motions: 

 Approval: Motion to approve the site plan review application for SMTA’s shop building 
at 38996 SE 2nd Avenue in Scio, File No. PL 2022-01, subject to the conditions 
of approval and to adopt the findings of fact.   

 
 Denial:  Motion to recommend denial of the application, City of Scio, File No. PL 2022-

01 because the applicant failed to demonstrate that the proposal fully 
complies with all of the City of Scio site plan review criteria in Chapter 11 and 
Public Works Standards in Chapter 13 of the City of Scio Zoning Code. 

 



  
Staff Report - PL 2022-01 
SMTA Shop Building, 38996 SE 2nd Avenue, Scio, Oregon 
April 27, 2022 Public Hearing page 15 of 15 

 
 

VI.  FINAL DECISION AND RIGHT OF APPEAL 
 
 
A.  Notice of Decision:    
 
 A written NOTICE OF DECISION will be issued to the applicant and all participants of record 

within five (5) business days of the Planning Commission’s decision. The Planning Commission is 
the final decision authority.  The decision is final unless the Planning Commission’s decision is 
appealed to the City Council.  If no appeal is filed, building permits may be issued by the City at 
the end of the appeal period. 

 
B.  Right of Appeal:    
 
 The Planning Commission decision may be appealed to the City Council by filing an appeal with 

the City within fifteen (15) days of the date the City issues the written Notice of Decision.   Appeals 
must comply with the appeal provisions in Chapter 12 of the Scio Zoning Ordinance.  



PL2022-01




















	PC-AGENDA 04.26.2022
	PC Minutes 08-25-2021
	2022-01 SMTA Shop PC Staff Rpt-DRAFT #3
	PL2022-01 - SMTA Site Plan Review 01.13.2020 (2)
	010-Architectural Plans
	785913540

	SMTA Site Plan 04-11-2022
	Four Firs Tentative Subdivision Extension (2021-03)
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



